cose to Home



State Strategies to Strengthen and Support Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care



The National Women's Law Center is a nonprofit organization that has been working since 1972 to advance and protect women's legal rights. The Center focuses on major policy areas of importance to women and their families, including employment, education, health and reproductive rights, and family economic security.

Karen Schulman is a Senior Policy Analyst and Helen Blank is Director of Leadership and Public Policy at the National Women's Law Center. The authors thank the numerous individuals who shared their insights on, and experiences with, state early childhood policies. The authors also thank NWLC Co-President Nancy Duff

The National Women's Law Center thanks the Annie E. Casey Foundation, the principle funder of this report, as well as the other supporters of its child care and education work, including the Beatrice R. and Joseph A. Coleman Foundation, Ford Foundation, George Gund Foundation, Horace Hagedorn Foundation, John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, McKnight Foundation, Moriah Fund, Ms. Foundation for Women, William Penn Foundation, and an anonymous donor.

Campbell and Vice-President for Family Economic Security Joan Entmacher for help in shaping the report and their comments on the draft, as well as Gina Adams, Danielle Ewen, Abby Cohen, and Geri Henchy for their

critical input.





State Strategies to Strengthen and Support Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care

Karen Schulman Helen Blank



# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	5
Background Data on Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care	6
Families Using Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care	7
Family, Friend, and Neighbor Providers	8
STATE POLICIES	11
Defining Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care	11
Determining State Child Care Assistance Policies	12
Establishing Requirements for Receiving Child Care Assistance	12
Determining Reimbursement Rate Policies	14
Setting Copayment Policies	17
Informing Parents	17
Investing in Quality Improvement Efforts	18
Encouraging Participation in the Child and Adult Care Food Program	19
Linking to State Prekindergarten Programs	20
Serving Children with Disabilities and Other Special Needs	21
Reaching Out with Home Visiting Programs	22
Connecting to Family Support Initiatives	24
Unionizing	24
RECOMMENDATIONS	26
Endnotes	28

### INTRODUCTION

With millions of working parents relying on family, friends, or neighbors (FFN) to care for their children, it is important that public policies regarding early care and education and family support focus on strategies for bolstering this care. While many factors other than state policies may affect a family's decision to use FFN care, there are multiple strategies that states can adopt to help support and strengthen FFN care. This is particularly critical given that many low-income children—who are often most at risk for starting school behind their more advantaged peers and stand to benefit the most from a good early learning environment—are in FFN care. By focusing a portion of state resources and attention on FFN care, states can help improve the quality of care these children receive. Increased investment in FFN care also matters because many FFN providers are low-income women who themselves are in need of support and resources.

Definitions of FFN care vary, but for the purposes of this report, unless otherwise noted, it is defined as nonparental care that is provided in a home setting for a small number of children and that is not required by the state to be regulated—which means that what is considered FFN care will vary across states. This is a diverse group, as an FFN provider may be a relative or non-relative, may be paid or unpaid, may or may not have a close relationship with the family, and may be caring for just one child or several children, depending on the state and the types of providers it exempts from regulation. An FFN provider may be a grandparent helping out her child and grandchildren for a short period of time or may be someone who has made a long-term commitment to providing child care as a primary source of income. The diversity of FFN providers can make it challenging to determine their needs, much less identify policies to address those needs. It is likely that multiple strategies are required to address the varied circumstances of FFN providers. Many of the strategies designed to support FFN care can also apply to regulated home-based care, and in some cases, center care as well.

This report addresses some of the policy decisions states make or could make to support FFN care, including:

- Determining which providers are exempt from state licensing or regulation. Ų
- Setting standards for FFN providers receiving public funds. U
- Establishing policies for child care assistance programs that help parents pay for FFN care, Ţ including provider reimbursement rates and parent copayments.
- Supporting initiatives to improve the quality of child care, including FFN care. U
- Allowing FFN providers to participate in the Child and Adult Care Food Program. U
- Facilitating coordination of state prekindergarten initiatives with FFN care. U
- Assisting FFN providers caring for children with disabilities and other special needs. Ţ
- Making home visiting and family support programs available to FFN providers. U
- Permitting unionization of FFN providers. U

The report discusses the policy options states have in each of the areas, how these policies can affect families using FFN care as well as FFN providers, and examples of promising approaches states have taken. Many of these policies are related to the child care subsidy system, since it offers one of the few levers available for influencing FFN providers, whose unregulated status typically leaves them otherwise disconnected from state programs and policies. However, there are still a number of policy strategies to reach out to the many FFN providers who are not receiving subsidies yet who could benefit from additional supports.

#### Background Data on Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care

Because of the diverse definitions of FFN care, data on the use of this care are limited and not always comparable. Most studies do not designate a separate category for FFN care as defined here, and instead use a category of "home-based care" that includes both regulated family child care and FFN care, or use a different definition of FFN care than that used here. As a result, it is not possible to determine the number or proportion of children in FFN care, but some approximations can be made.

For example, an analysis of data from the 2003 National Survey of Children's Health distinguishes child care arrangements by setting, but not by whether the child care is regulated. The analysis found that 65 percent of all children under age six—nearly 15.5 million children—regularly received nonparental child care. Of these children, 42 percent—approximately 6.5 million children—spent at least some of their time in a home-based setting, as opposed to center-based care, including 1.5 million children who only used a home-based setting.<sup>2</sup>

Data from the National Survey of America's Families (NSAF) distinguish family child care from nonparental relative care, but do not distinguish between regulated or unregulated care. According to these data, in 2002, 39 percent of children under age five with employed mothers were in family child care (16 percent) or nonparental relative care (23 percent) as their primary arrangement, while 32 percent were in center-based care, and 6 percent were cared for by a nanny or other non-relative caregiver in the child's home.<sup>3</sup> The remaining 24 percent had no regular child care arrangement or were cared for only by their parents.<sup>4</sup>

An analysis of 2005 National Household Education Survey (NHES) data defines FFN care as nonparental relative care, non-relative unpaid care outside the child's home, and non-relative care inside the child's home care (paid or unpaid), excluding from the definition non-relative paid care outside the child's home that is not required to be regulated.<sup>5</sup> The analysis found that nearly onequarter of all children under age six—over 5 million children—regularly used at least one of these types of care. 6 Children using FFN care as defined in this analysis were in this type of care for an average of thirty-one hours a week. Slightly over half (51 percent) of children under age three were in nonparental child care in a typical week, and 41 percent of the hours spent in nonparental care were spent in FFN care as defined in this analysis. Nearly three-quarters (74 percent) of children ages three to five were in nonparental child care in a typical week, and 31 percent of the hours spent in nonparental care were spent in FFN care as defined in this analysis.9

Studies on child care arrangements of school-age children similarly do not disaggregate their data in ways that allow identification of how many children are in FFN care. However, the available data indicate that a substantial proportion of school-age children spend time in home-based care. In 2005, 24 percent of children in kindergarten through third grade spent at least part of their time in homebased care, according to NHES data. 10 Among children in fourth through eighth grade, 18 percent were in such care for at least part of their day. 11 Another study, using 1999 NSAF data, found that 23 percent of children ages six through twelve with employed parents were in nonparental relative care as their primary arrangement, compared to 15 percent who attended before- or after-school programs, 7 percent who were in family child care settings, and 10 percent who cared for themselves as their primary arrangement (the remaining 41 percent were in parent care or enrichment activities not considered to be child care).12

#### Families Using Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care

FFN care is used by a wide range of families, according to two studies synthesizing the research data on this type of care. 13 Although the research data are not wholly consistent, they identify some background and family characteristics that may be correlated with at least certain types of FFN care, such as nonparental relative care, or with the broader category of home-based care that includes FFN care. Factors such as parents' work schedules, race and ethnicity, family income, family structure, and whether the family lives in an urban or rural area may influence the use of FFN care.

- A five-state study that, like the analysis of the 2005 NHES data discussed above, defined FFN U care as nonparental relative care, non-relative unpaid care outside the child's home, and nonrelative care inside the child's home care (paid or unpaid), found that a higher percentage of this care than other types of care was provided during nonstandard hours such as evenings and weekends. 14 Over half (54 percent) of FFN care as defined in this analysis was provided during evenings or weekends, compared to 26 percent for family child care and 9 percent for centerbased care. 15 The study suggested that this might be because parents with nontraditional work hours need the flexible arrangements that FFN care may be more likely to offer. <sup>16</sup> However, another study found that the percentage of preschool-age children in nonparental relative care was approximately the same for both children with parents working traditional hours and children with parents working nontraditional hours. 17 This study did not provide an explanation for why this pattern occurred.
- Use of FFN care may be affected not only by when parents work, but also by how many hours Ų they work. For example, one 2004 study found that mothers who work more than forty hours per week were less likely to use family child care or nonparental relative care and more likely to use center care as their primary arrangement.<sup>18</sup>
- According to an analysis of NSAF data, Hispanic and black families are both more likely than V white families to regularly use nonparental relative care, either as their sole arrangement or in combination with other arrangements.<sup>19</sup> Thirty-two percent of white children under age three with employed parents were in relative care in 1999, compared to 43 percent each for black and Hispanic children under age three.<sup>20</sup> Twenty-eight percent of white three- and four-year-olds were in relative care, compared to 36 percent for black three- and four-year-olds and 40 percent of Hispanic three- and four-year-olds.<sup>21</sup> However, an analysis of 1997 and 1999 NSAF data on primary child care arrangements (defined as the type of child care used for the most hours) found a somewhat different picture.<sup>22</sup> Hispanic children under age five with employed parents were much more likely than black or white children under age five with employed parents to be in relative care as their primary arrangement (40 percent versus 28 percent and 24 percent, respectively). 23 Black children under age five with employed parents were much more likely

than white or Hispanic children to be in center care as their primary child care arrangement (44 percent versus 32 percent and 20 percent, respectively).<sup>24</sup>

- According to a 2004 analysis of data from the Survey of Income and Program Participation, U low-income families are less likely to use center care than high-income families.<sup>25</sup> However, an analysis of 1999 NSAF data indicates an intriguing pattern in the use of nonparental relative care for toddlers and preschoolers—it is greatest among both the lowest and highest income groups.26
- According to an analysis of 1999 NSAF data, single mothers with children under age thirteen U rely more on nonparental relative care than two-parent families.<sup>27</sup> For example, 47 percent of three- and four-year-olds in single-parent families were regularly in nonparental relative care (either as the only child care arrangement or in combination with other arrangements), compared to 27 percent of three- and four-year-olds in two-parent families.<sup>28</sup> Similarly, 38 percent of six- through nine-year-olds in single-parent families were regularly in nonparental relative care, compared to 23 percent of six- through nine-year-olds in two-parent families.<sup>29</sup>
- According to an analysis of 2002 data from the Survey of Income and Program Participation, U families with children under age five living in rural areas are more likely to use non-relative home-based care for their children than families with children under age five in urban areas, although the use of nonparental relative care is similar across urban and rural areas.<sup>30</sup>
- According to an analysis of 1995 NHES data, children with special needs are more likely than U other children to be in center-based care.<sup>31</sup> However, according to an analysis of 1999 NHES data using the same definition of FFN care as was used in the five-state study discussed above, there are 200,000 children with special needs in FFN care, and one in eight (12.7 percent) children who use FFN care have special needs.32

Parents give a number of reasons for using FFN care. Parents most commonly report that it is because they know and trust their FFN providers and feel their children will be safe and receive individualized attention.<sup>33</sup> While few parents specifically cite shared values and culture as their motivation for choosing this type of care, this may be an underlying factor in their feelings of trust toward their FFN provider.<sup>34</sup> Parents using nonparental relative care also believe that this will help enhance family relationships.<sup>35</sup> Other reasons that some parents cite for choosing FFN care are cost, low child-provider ratios, and convenient hours.<sup>36</sup>

#### Family, Friend, and Neighbor Providers

FFN providers constitute a significant proportion of the overall child care provider population. Of the estimated 4.7 million child care providers in a given week, about two-thirds (3.0 million) were nonparental relatives, including 2.2 million who were unpaid and 804,000 who were paid, according to a study by the Center for the Child Care Workforce and the Human Services Policy Center.<sup>37</sup> A 2005 study found that the most common nonparental relative provider was a grandmother.<sup>38</sup> The remaining child care provider population included 650,000 paid non-relative providers caring for children in the provider's home, 550,000 paid center providers, 298,000 other paid non-relative providers (typically, those providing care in the child's home), and 121,000 unpaid non-relative providers (in each case, these providers may have been regulated or unregulated—the study does not distinguish between the two).39

Data on the characteristics of FFN providers are limited, but two state-level studies—in Washington and Minnesota—offer some information about these providers, including the hours they work and how much they are paid.

The 2002 Washington state study (which defined FFN care as either regulated or unregulated care by nonparental relatives, friends, neighbors, or other types of paid or unpaid caregivers who are not licensed child care centers or family child care providers)<sup>40</sup> found that over half (53 percent) of the FFN caregivers provided care for more than ten hours a week, including one-quarter (25 percent) who provided care for more than thirty hours a week.<sup>41</sup> Among FFN providers caring for children birth through age five, over two-thirds (69 percent) had been providing care for the same child for one to four years; over half (51 percent) had been providing care for the same child for at least two years.<sup>42</sup> Forty percent of the FFN providers reported that they were paid for at least one of the children in their care,<sup>43</sup> and their hourly rates were similar to those paid for center-based care and regulated family child care.<sup>44</sup>

The 2006 Minnesota study found that 41 percent of FFN caregivers (defined as nonparental relatives, friends, and neighbors who provide home-based care that is regulated or unregulated) provided child care for more than ten hours a week, including 23 percent who provided care for more than thirty hours a week. On average, they reported that they had provided FFN care for eleven years. Nearly one-quarter (24 percent) of FFN providers reported that they received payment for providing care, with the amount averaging \$117 to \$126 per week.

FFN providers report several reasons for choosing to provide care, including wanting to assist the child's parents, help the child develop, build a close relationship with family members, and stay home with their own children.<sup>48</sup> For example, in the study of Washington FFN providers, 57 percent said that they were providing care to help the child's parent.<sup>49</sup> In the Minnesota study, 59 percent of FFN providers said that the reason they provided child care was to help a family member or friend.<sup>50</sup>

Although there is little information about FFN providers' incomes, the data that are available indicate that many FFN providers have relatively low or moderate incomes or live in households with low or moderate incomes. FFN providers found that their median household income was \$30,282, compared to the statewide median household income of \$47,000 in 2000. The survey of Minnesota FFN providers found that 40 percent had household incomes below \$40,000 a year in 2004. A 2003 study of FFN providers offering subsidized care in Illinois found that over one-quarter (27 percent) were receiving TANF, Food Stamps, and/or Medicaid, and that 40 percent had used at least one of these benefits at some point in the previous two years. FFN providers generally are similar in their income levels and have the same ethnicity as the children they are caring for, according to a 2005 summary of studies.

Research on the quality of FFN care indicates both areas for improvement as well as strengths upon which to build. Studies that use observational measures to evaluate various child care settings generally find that quality of much FFN care is low, according to two recent reports summarizing such studies. Studies that look specifically at the relationship between FFN caregivers and children have produced varying results, with several finding warm, supportive interactions, to me finding less warmth and sensitivity in the relationships between FFN providers and children than between providers and children in other child care settings.

According to a summary of several studies, FFN providers typically have lower levels of education than regulated providers and limited education or formal training in child care or child development, <sup>59</sup> which may affect the quality of care. <sup>60</sup> The survey of Washington FFN providers found that their overall general education level was lower than that of the adult population, and lower than that for center-based or family child care providers. <sup>61</sup> In addition, 61 percent reported that they had received no specific training in child care, child development, or parenting. <sup>62</sup>

On the other hand, FFN care tends to have low child-provider ratios, <sup>63</sup> a factor that may improve the quality of care. <sup>64</sup> For example, an analysis of 1999 NHES data (that defined FFN care as nonparental relative care, non-relative unpaid care outside the child's home, and non-relative care inside the child's home care) found that for children between birth and age five, ratios in FFN care averaged 1.5 children per adult, compared to 3.5 children per adult in family child care and 6.5 children per adult in center-based care. <sup>65</sup>

Parents using FFN care and their FFN providers report good communication and positive feelings about their relationships with one another, according to a 2005 summary of studies.<sup>66</sup> For example, in a 2001 study of low-income families in three cities, mothers using unregulated care reported that they were more satisfied with their care, had better communication with their child care provider, and found their child care provider to be more accessible, reliable, dependable, and flexible in meeting their needs than mothers using regulated care.<sup>67</sup>

### **STATE POLICIES**

#### **Defining Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care**

Given that FFN care is defined here as home-based care exempt from state regulation, and the types of home-based child care providers that states exempt from regulation differ across states, what is considered FFN care will vary from state to state.

All states exempt FFN providers from regulation if they are relatives of the child—regardless of the number of related children in their care. Although all states exempt parents, they otherwise differ in which relatives they exempt. For example, Minnesota's definition of exempt relatives includes parents, adoptive parents, stepparents, stepbrothers, stepsisters, nieces, nephews, grandparents, siblings, aunts, uncles, and legal guardians. 68 In contrast, Pennsylvania's definition includes only parents, stepparents, grandparents, and foster parents.<sup>69</sup>

States also vary in the number of children that a home-based provider can care for before being required to be regulated. Some states require all non-relative home-based providers to be regulated, even if they are only caring for one child in the provider's home, while several states exempt providers caring for up to five children, and a few states exempt providers caring for an even larger number of children:

- Ten states require all non-relative home-based providers to meet licensing or regulation Ų requirements even if they are caring for only one child (Alabama, Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Kansas, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Oklahoma, and Washington).70
- Five states exempt home-based providers caring for only one child or the children of only one Ų family (California, Colorado, Florida, Minnesota, and South Carolina).
- Eight states exempt home-based providers caring for up to two children (Georgia, Hawaii, Ţ Maine, Montana, New York, North Carolina, Vermont, 71 and Wyoming 72).
- Eleven states exempt home-based providers caring for up to three children (Illinois, 73 Kentucky, V Nebraska, New Hampshire, North Dakota, Oregon, 74 Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Texas, West Virginia, and Wisconsin).
- Seven states exempt home-based providers caring for up to four children (Alaska, Arizona, Ų Missouri, Nevada, New Mexico, Tennessee, and Utah).
- Six states exempt home-based providers caring for up to five children (Arkansas, Indiana, Iowa, Ų Mississippi, New Jersey, and Virginia).
- Three states exempt home-based providers caring for up to six children (Idaho, Louisiana, and U Ohio).
- Ų South Dakota exempts home-based providers caring for up to twelve children.

Another basis on which states exempt home-based providers from regulation is if care is not provided on a regular basis or is not otherwise provided as part of an ongoing business. For example, Washington exempts home-based providers if they are not providing care on an ongoing, regular basis for the purpose of engaging in business and not earning more than \$1,000 a year from that care.<sup>75</sup>

### **Determining State Child Care Assistance Policies**

Families receiving assistance through the federal Child Care and Development Block Grant (CCDBG), the major federal program that provides funds to states to help low-income families pay for child care, may choose to use FFN care, and many do. In 2004, nearly one-quarter (23 percent) of children served through the CCDBG were in FFN care. There was tremendous variation among states in the proportion of children in this care. Three states (Arkansas, Ohio, and Wisconsin) reported no children receiving CCDBG assistance who were in FFN care, and ten additional states (Alabama, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Massachusetts, Nevada, North Carolina, Rhode Island, and West Virginia) had less than 10 percent of children receiving CCDBG assistance in FFN care. In contrast, Oregon had 59 percent and Michigan and Wyoming each had two-thirds of their children receiving CCDBG assistance in FFN care.

Depending on the state, FFN providers receiving CCDBG assistance may be primarily nonparental relatives or primarily non-relatives. For example, in Vermont, 20 percent of children receiving CCDBG assistance were cared for by non-relative FFN providers, while just 2 percent of children were cared for by nonparental relative FFN providers. In contrast, 40 percent of children receiving CCDBG assistance in Utah were cared for by nonparental relative FFN providers, while only 3 percent were cared by non-relative FFN providers.

In some states, the percentage of families receiving CCDBG assistance who use FFN care is partially explained by how the state defines legally exempt care, since few providers may qualify as FFN providers if a state only allows limited exemptions from regulation. For example, among the thirteen states where less than 10 percent of children receiving CCDBG assistance used FFN care, four—Alabama, Delaware, District of Columbia, and Massachusetts—require all non-relative providers to be regulated if they are caring for one child, and Florida requires non-relative providers to be regulated if they are caring for children from more than one family. Yet, in other states, there is no apparent relationship between the state definition of exempt care and the extent to which families receiving assistance use FFN care. For example, in Nevada, less than 10 percent of children receiving CCDBG assistance used FFN care, even though non-relative providers can care for up to four children without being regulated.

The use of FFN care among families receiving CCDBG assistance is not only affected by state policies on which providers must be regulated but also by other state child care assistance policies. States make a number of decisions that can affect families' access to FFN care as well as the quality of care offered by FFN providers participating in child care assistance programs.

#### **Establishing Requirements for Receiving Child Care Assistance**

Under the CCDBG program, FFN providers that are not required to be regulated by the state nonetheless must meet a set of health and safety requirements in order to serve children receiving child care assistance.<sup>77</sup> The goal is to ensure that public funds are going to providers that are at a

minimum protecting children and not placing them at risk of harm. States determine the specific requirements, which must address prevention and control of infectious diseases (including an assurance that children receiving CCDBG funds are age-appropriately immunized), building and physical premises safety, and health and safety training. States are permitted to exempt certain relatives (grandparents, great-grandparents, aunts, uncles, and siblings who live in a separate residence from the child in care) from these requirements. Most states still choose to have health and safety requirements for these relatives, although the requirements are not always identical to those that apply to other FFN providers.<sup>78</sup>

States address a variety of health and safety practices in their requirements for FFN providers.<sup>79</sup> These may include requirements for providers to: have appropriate hand-washing practices; keep firearms locked and inaccessible; keep poisonous substances out of the reach of children; cover electric sockets; have operable smoke detectors and fire extinguishers; have documented fire drills and emergency plans; have a working telephone with emergency numbers posted; have first-aid supplies; and have cushioned materials under playground equipment.

States take different approaches to ensuring compliance with health and safety requirements. In some states, FFN providers only have to sign a checklist indicating that they are meeting standards on immunizations, building and premises safety, and basic health and safety. 80 Parents may also be asked to sign the checklist. A few states take stronger measures to verify and enforce compliance, such as requiring home visits or inspections by local fire, building, and health departments or other agencies.

- In Nevada, for example, FFN providers must have a complete home inspection from contractor Ţ quality assurance staff within forty-five days of enrolling in the CCDBG program.<sup>81</sup> Providers receive training materials and access to a video training series from the contractors.<sup>82</sup> Providers also receive assistance from consultants in improving their health practices and training from mental health consultants on working with children who have behavioral or emotional challenges.83
- In Georgia, child care licensing monitors visit all FFN providers first enrolling in the CCDBG Ų program as well as a 20 percent sample of FFN providers already participating in the CCDBG program annually.84 Information related to fire drills, proper storage of poisons, covered outlets, safe outdoor play areas, covered fireplaces, and overall clean and safe areas is evaluated and discussed during monitoring visits. 85 Monitors also share information regarding Georgia's immunization law, which requires parents to have their child immunizations current.86

In addition to general health and safety requirements, states may require criminal background checks for FFN providers serving children receiving CCDBG assistance. A 2004 survey of policies in forty-eight states found that thirty-nine require some kind of background checks for these providers.<sup>87</sup> States that require background checks must make several additional decisions. For example, they must determine the types of background checks they will require. Of the thirty-nine states that reported having background check requirements, thirty-two require state criminal records checks, thirty-two check child abuse and neglect histories, and sixteen check FBI fingerprint records.88

States must also determine who will be subject to the background checks—just the providers, or others in the household. In addition, they must specify what actions disqualify a person from caring for a child. For example, some states only disqualify a person from providing care if that person has been convicted of a serious or violent crime against other individuals, while other states disqualify

a person for a broader range of crimes, including misdemeanors.<sup>89</sup> States also determine whether to charge providers for the background checks or cover the costs themselves. Some states, such as Delaware,<sup>90</sup> Iowa,<sup>91</sup> New York,<sup>92</sup> and Washington,<sup>93</sup> cover the cost of the background checks for FFN providers.

Two states have some data indicating the proportion of legally exempt providers (a group that in some respects is broader than FFN providers) receiving, or applying to receive, child care subsidies that have criminal backgrounds. In California, 14 percent of these applicants in 2005 had their cases closed due to a criminal or child abuse history, including 102 applicants (0.5 percent of all applicants) that had been convicted of a serious felony. A 2004 study by the Office of the Comptroller of New York State examined the criminal and child abuse histories of a group of 162 randomly selected such providers and identified fifteen providers who may have been convicted of a crime and fourteen providers who may have been the subject of an indicated report of child abuse. In response, the state established requirements for criminal and child welfare background checks of all providers serving children receiving child care assistance. The state also adopted new regulations requiring 20 percent of FFN providers (excluding those participating in the Child and Adult Care Food Program, since—as discussed below—this program involves its own monitoring process) to receive on-site inspections each year.

States also differ in how they address basic child development training requirements for FFN providers serving children receiving child care assistance. Some states simply inform providers about training opportunities or only require training in first aid and CPR or basic health and safety orientations. Other states have more extensive training requirements. For example:

- FFN providers in Delaware must receive forty-five hours of training, including three hours of training on safety, three hours on health, three hours on nutrition, three hours on early language and literacy, fifteen hours on child development, twelve hours on understanding children's behavior, and six hours on CPR and first aid. Providers must complete the training within ninety days of starting their participation in the CCDBG program. 100
- FFN providers in Georgia must participate in eight hours of child-related health and safety training within six months after enrolling in the CCDBG program. Providers may attend health and safety training offered by child care resource and referral agencies, community-based agencies, technical schools, hospitals, county extension agencies, Head Start, or other entities. 102

#### **Determining Reimbursement Rate Policies**

States determine how much they will reimburse providers who serve families receiving child care assistance as well as other reimbursement policies, such as the payment process. The CCDBG program requires states to set rates that are designed to give children receiving CCDBG assistance access to care that is equal to that available to children whose parents pay for care on their own. CCDBG regulations recommend that states set their rates for care at the 75th percentile of current market rates, which is the rate that allows families access to 75 percent of providers in their communities. Yet this is not a rate requirement, and many states set their rates for all types of care—from center-based to FFN care—far below the 75th percentile, or base the rates on outdated market information. This can limit parents' access to the type of care they want for their children and affect the income of providers.

States can find it particularly difficult to set reimbursement rates for FFN care. For other types of care, states can conduct a survey of market prices. However, for FFN care, the market is skewed by the fact that many providers are not paid, and those that are paid typically do not have published fees and may not charge a standard amount. A provider caring for a grandchild, niece or nephew, or friend's child may not request any payment, or if the provider does, may ask the child's parent just to pay what the parent can afford, and that might differ from week to week. As a result, most states are unable to collect accurate information on fees for FFN care. Instead, many states set their FFN rates based on rates for regulated family child care. Some states set their FFN rates at amounts equal to their rates for regulated family child care, while others set them as a percentage of their regulated family child care rates. A 2006 survey by the National Women's Law Center found that, in half of the states providing data for both FFN care and regulated family child care, the state reimbursement rate for FFN care was equal to 75 percent or less of the family child care rate, and in most of the remaining states, the reimbursement rate for FFN care was between 76 and 95 percent of the family child care rate. 103

States may set lower rates for FFN care to encourage use of regulated family child care instead, or because they assume FFN care involves lower expenses since these providers avoid costs associated with meeting regulatory requirements. 104 States may also assume that FFN providers do not need a higher reimbursement as an incentive to provide care, since many FFN providers care for children in order to help a friend or relative, rather than for financial reasons. For example, a survey of FFN caregivers registered with the child care assistance program in five Minnesota counties found that only 23 percent of non-relative caregivers and just 13 percent of relative caregivers provided care to earn money. 105 However, there are FFN providers who rely on the reimbursement they receive for their livelihood.

State policies on reimbursement rates for regulated types of care can also have an indirect effect on the use of FFN care. If reimbursement rates for regulated family child care homes and child care centers are far below market prices—as is the case in many states 106—few providers may be willing to accept the low rates and care for children receiving assistance. Providers that do take these low rates may have difficulty staying in business. 107 As a result, families may be left with few options other than FFN care. Low rates may also cause families to choose FFN care if regulated providers ask parents to make up the difference between the state's rate and the provider's private rate, which is permitted in over two-thirds of the states. 108

FFN providers' level of reimbursement may not only be affected by the basic rate but by other policies as well. For example, FFN providers' reimbursement often depends on how a state reimburses providers for part-time care, since many FFN providers offer care on a part-time basis. Some states pay a provider a full-day rate if a child is in care for at least five or six hours, while other states pay on an hourly basis. Another reimbursement policy determining FFN providers' compensation concerns whether they are paid for days when a child is absent. Some states do not reimburse any providers for absent days. Some states do reimburse regulated providers for absent days, but not FFN providers.

The reimbursement that FFN providers receive also depends on whether the state offers bonuses or higher rates for certain types of care that FFN providers may be more likely to provide, such as infant care. Most states set higher rates for infant care, and some states offer additional bonuses for this care as well, although these bonuses are not always available to FFN providers and may instead be limited to regulated family child care home and centers. For example, Illinois reimburses regulated centers and family child care homes at higher rates for children under two-and-a-half years old than for older

children, but uses a single reimbursement rate for FFN providers, regardless of the age of the children in care, which is lower than the rate used either for regulated centers or family child care homes. 109

Nontraditional-hour care is another type of care that is offered by a large number of FFN providers and that receives higher reimbursement in several states. Nine states (Colorado, District of Columbia, Illinois, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Missouri, Montana, and New York) generally offer higher rates for care during nontraditional hours, 110 but as with infant care, these higher rates for nontraditional-hour care are not always available to FFN providers. 111 For example, in Missouri, all providers, including FFN providers, caring for children in the evening or on weekends receive a 15 percent enhancement to their base rate. 112 In contrast, Kentucky only makes its bonus for nontraditional-hour care—\$1 per day above the maximum reimbursement rate—available to regulated child care homes and centers, not FFN providers. 113

A third type of care that is often reimbursed at higher rates is care for children with special needs. Seventeen states (Delaware, Florida, Illinois, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, New York, North Carolina, South Carolina, South Dakota, Virginia, and Washington) have higher rates for this type of care, 114 recognizing that there often are additional costs involved in providing it. FFN providers caring for children with special needs are often eligible for these higher rates. 115 For example:

- Kentucky pays \$1 per day above the maximum reimbursement rate for any provider—whether a licensed center, regulated family child care home, or FFN caregiver—offering special needs care. 116
- Missouri pays 25 percent above the base rate to providers, including FFN providers, caring for children with special needs.<sup>117</sup>
- Iowa has special needs rates for each category of provider—licensed centers, regulated family child care, regulated group homes, and FFN providers—that exceed the basic rate for each type of provider.<sup>118</sup>

States may offer higher rates to FFN providers that receive some amount of training, or additional training beyond the minimum required. For example:

- In Michigan, FFN providers caring for children under two-and-a-half years old receive an additional 25 cents per hour if they complete at least sixteen hours of child care training. 119
- In Wisconsin, FFN providers that receive fifteen hours of training—referred to as regularly certified providers—receive a reimbursement rate that is equal to 75 percent of the rate for regulated family child care, compared to 50 percent of the regulated family child care rate for FFN providers that do not receive the training. 120
- FFN providers in Oregon receive a higher reimbursement rate and are allowed more flexibility in the billing process if they participate in training on health and safety practices and on recognizing child abuse and neglect.<sup>121</sup>

In addition to the amount of the reimbursement, other rate policies may affect FFN providers' willingness to serve children receiving child care assistance. In some states, child care providers must wade through a difficult process to qualify for assistance payments and receive the reimbursement

due to them. This creates a challenge for all providers, and may be particularly burdensome for FFN providers who may be less likely to have administrative staff or help navigating the system than, for example, a child care center.

#### **Setting Copayment Policies**

States determine how much parents receiving child care assistance pay toward the cost of care. Parent copayment amounts are generally set on a sliding scale basis, with families that have higher incomes paying more toward the cost of care. Some states also determine parent copayments based on the cost of care the family uses—typically, having parents pay a percentage of the cost of care, with the percentage increasing as family income increases. States generally do not base copayments on the type of care a family uses—for example, FFN care versus regulated family child care or center care. However, state copayment policies can have an indirect effect on whether a family chooses FFN care.

Several states set high copayments for some families. 122 This can steer some families toward FFN care if family and friends, because of their relationship to the child's family, are more understanding and flexible when parents fail to pay their full copayment than a child care center or family child care provider (although many centers and family child care providers forgo collection of copayments as well). Yet this means a financial loss or hardship to the FFN provider, who may be dependent on the income.

Some parents may also be more likely to use FFN care when states set copayments according to the cost of care and when FFN providers charge lower fees than regulated child care centers and family child care homes.

#### **Informing Parents**

States vary in the approaches they take in informing parents about the availability of child care assistance through the CCDBG as well as federal and state child care tax credits. States typically distribute information through child care resource and referral agencies, and often rely on other agencies and organizations, including Head Start programs, employment and training centers, and other community agencies. 123 Many states use brochures and printed materials, and in some cases, radio or print ads. Some have extensive outreach efforts, using a variety of methods to let parents know they can receive help paying for child care. In other states—particularly those with waiting lists, demonstrating that the state already is unable to serve all eligible families who apply for help outreach efforts are much more limited.

States also differ in how much information they provide to parents eligible for assistance about their child care options, including FFN care, and the requirements that must be met by each type of provider. For example, states vary in how much guidance they provide to parents to help them choose child care, including both basic health and safety practices parents can expect of their child care providers as well as broader information about assessing quality of care. In contrast, some states take important steps to ensure parents receive sufficient information, such as by translating information materials into the language that parents speak if they do not speak English and by having staff available who can communicate with parents who do not speak English. For example, Washington's posters and brochures about child care assistance are available in six languages.

States also differ in what they do to inform providers about the availability of child care assistance, including tax credits, so that the providers can in turn let parents know about it. Little information is available about state efforts in this area, but some state and local agencies attempt to provide outreach through multiple avenues, including family support and other programs that serve child care providers, neighborhood groups, libraries, and other community agencies and organizations. Some states make extra efforts to ensure that they reach FFN providers. They recognize that these providers may be less likely than family child care homes and child care centers to be linked to networks of providers, child care resource and referral programs, or other service agencies that provide information about child care assistance, and less likely to have had some contact with the child care assistance program or with the state through the process of becoming regulated.

### **Investing in Quality Improvement Efforts**

A portion of CCDBG funding is reserved for quality improvement initiatives. States must spend at least 4 percent of their funding on projects related to enhancing the quality of child care. Currently, an additional \$170 million of CCDBG funding is earmarked for quality activities, and \$98 million is earmarked for supporting infant and toddler care. States may choose to use a portion of these funds to provide training and support for FFN providers or for basic materials and supplies for FFN care such as fire alarms, cribs, high chairs, and books. States may use the quality dollars to assist providers who are caring for children receiving CCDBG assistance as well as those who are not. In low-income communities, FFN providers who are not receiving assistance may be the most isolated, lacking in resources, and in need of support.

State quality initiatives are less likely to involve FFN providers than regulated providers. While 85 percent of state quality initiatives that have child care providers as the primary target serve center teachers or assistant teachers, and an equal percentage of these initiatives serve regulated family child care providers, just 37 percent serve FFN caregivers. <sup>126</sup>

States with quality initiatives that target FFN providers or at least allow FFN providers to participate along with other types of providers have various objectives for their initiatives. Some states design their training efforts and other quality initiatives with the goal of encouraging unregulated FFN providers to become regulated. Other states simply aim to improve the quality of care offered regardless of whether the providers become regulated.

California is using a portion of its CCDBG quality funds to make training available to FFN providers (both those who are receiving subsidies and those who are not) through the California Child Care Resource and Referral Network. With \$9.8 million in CCDBG funds, the network will adapt its Child Care Initiative Project, which was developed to recruit and train regulated family child care providers, to FFN providers. Training modules will be developed specifically for these providers, and resource and referral agencies will provide outreach, support, and training to providers in their communities.

Missouri offers quality improvement activities, including on-site technical assistance, workshops, and group trainings, for subsidized FFN providers through its Educare initiative. Educare is supported with \$3 million per year in state funding that is counted toward the CCDBG maintenance of effort requirement (funding that the state must provide to receive its allocation of federal funds). Some local communities supplement this state funding with local, private foundation, and other

resources. There are seventeen local Educare sites, all of which must follow certain state requirements, but are allowed a great deal of flexibility. As a result, sites vary in the types of activities they offer and approaches they use depending on the providers they serve and other circumstances. For example, in urban areas such as St. Louis, which is more densely populated, it is easier to get groups large enough to hold workshops, while in rural areas where providers are more dispersed, home visits are often more practical. Educare staff try to encourage FFN providers to become regulated, but if the providers are not interested, the staff still work with them to improve their skills. Individual Educare sites use a variety of approaches to engage providers, such as by having events with food at locations where providers submit their invoices for subsidy reimbursement.

Michigan's Child Care Futures Project, which trains an average of 3,000 providers each year through the state's fifteen regional child care resource and referral agencies, previously only worked with regulated providers but now has started reaching out to FFN providers. 129 The state offers a \$150 one-time incentive payment to encourage the participation of these providers.

Maryland and Massachusetts offer outreach and technical assistance to improve the quality of FFN care. 130 Several other states, including Connecticut, Florida, Hawaii, Iowa, and New York, also offer training for FFN providers.<sup>131</sup>

Some states have quality improvement initiatives aimed at infant/toddler caregivers, which often include FFN caregivers. West Virginia makes training available to all providers, including FFN providers, caring for infants and toddlers. The training is implemented by infant/toddler specialists through six regional child care resource and referral agencies. The state makes a one-time payment of \$400 to providers that complete a forty-five-hour infant and toddler class, which includes training on promoting children's language, pre-reading, and numeracy skills development.<sup>132</sup> The state also offers stipends to providers for other training and conferences. 133 However, the stipends and other material resources are only available to regulated providers or FFN providers that register to participate in the child care subsidy program. <sup>134</sup> Sixteen states—Alabama, California, Florida, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Tennessee, and Washington—also have networks of infant/toddler specialists that give support and training to child care providers, <sup>135</sup> and these resources are often made available to both FFN providers and regulated providers.

# **Encouraging Participation in the Child and Adult Care Food Program**

The Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP), administered by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, subsidizes nutritious meals and snacks for children enrolled in child care and after-school programs. 136 Family child care homes and child care centers are eligible to participate if they are regulated or if they qualify for alternative approval status by meeting a set of federal requirements. States may also allow FFN providers who are exempt from regulation to participate if they are providing care for children receiving CCDBG funds, and if the state has a minimum set of standards for exempt providers receiving CCDBG funds. Since the CACFP is an entitlement program, there is no set limit on funding and all eligible children can receive the benefits that the CACFP offers.

Allowing FFN providers to participate in the CACFP enables the children in their care to benefit from the nutritious meals and snacks that are funded by the program. The CACFP reimburses providers for the costs of up to two meals and a snack a day for each child. Once an FFN or regulated family child care provider qualifies for the CACFP based on having at least one child receiving child care assistance, all children cared for by the provider are eligible for the meals and snacks provided by the program. If the provider earns less than 185 percent of poverty, the provider's own children are eligible as well.

FFN providers and the children in their care also benefit from participation in the CACFP because it gives providers access to support and training. They learn about the importance of healthy eating and how to prepare nutritious meals and can be connected to other training opportunities in their communities.

The CACFP visits to participating FFN providers may be the only monitoring visits and training opportunities these providers receive. FFN providers participating in the CACFP program receive three home visits each year. The CACFP monitors that visit FFN providers may need training on working with these providers, who may have different needs and circumstances than regulated providers.

States that make the CACFP available to FFN providers receiving CCDBG funds include Alaska, California, District of Columbia, Georgia, Illinois, Kentucky, and New York. Washington also plans to start permitting these providers to participate in the CACFP. In addition, Connecticut has begun a pilot program allowing FFN providers to participate in the CACFP that covers several areas of the state.

A few states that permit FFN providers to qualify for the CACFP have adopted other policies to facilitate their participation. New York has taken an especially innovative step by allowing an FFN provider to participate in the CACFP for a full year once she or he has been deemed eligible. This means that an FFN provider who serves a child receiving child care assistance and qualifies to participate in the CACFP remains eligible for a year even if that child's family loses eligibility for child care assistance or is no longer cared for by that provider. The CACFP continues to subsidize meals for children being cared for by the provider as well as the provider's own child or children.

# **Linking to State Prekindergarten Programs**

A growing number of children are enrolled in state prekindergarten programs. Thirty-nine states currently provide funding for prekindergarten initiatives, which primarily serve four-year-olds, and some three-year-olds, and are typically targeted at children from low-income families or with other risk factors. A number of states have significantly increased their investments in state prekindergarten programs in recent years as policymakers have recognized the importance of early education to children's success in school. Yet even with the growth of prekindergarten, there is still a need for FFN care for three- and four-year-olds because it can help fill in gaps not addressed by prekindergarten programs. State policies can affect the extent to which FFN care can effectively complement prekindergarten in order to meet families' needs.

The majority of state prekindergarten programs only operate for a part day, sometimes just two or three hours a day, and only during the school year. As a result, parents working full time need child care before and after the prekindergarten day and during the summer months. In some cases, programs only operate two or three days a week, so parents need full-day care for the remaining days of the week as well. Many parents turn to FFN providers to provide this "wrap-around" care. Families

with children in state-funded prekindergarten programs may also use FFN care if the parents work evenings, nights, or weekends—hours that do not coincide with the prekindergarten day.

In some states, one way that FFN care is coordinated with prekindergarten is by providing transportation for children between the FFN provider's home and the prekindergarten program. FFN providers who are caring for several children may have difficulty picking up or dropping off their prekindergarten-age children. In Chicago, a pilot project sponsored by Illinois Action for Children—a nonprofit organization that provides child care resource and referral services and advocates for highquality early care and education—and funded through private and public sources is trying to address this issue. 141 It uses vans to transport children between FFN or regulated family child care providers and prekindergarten as part of a broader initiative to support and offer training to both types of providers. Most states allow prekindergarten funds to be used for transportation, 142 but do not require local programs to provide it.<sup>143</sup>

Some states also make it easier for FFN providers to offer care before and/or after prekindergarten by providing a full-day, rather than part-day, reimbursement for this wrap-around care. Since many prekindergarten days last only three or fewer hours, and some parents work eight or more hours a day, in addition to having long commutes, or work nontraditional hours, some children need full-time care before or after the prekindergarten day. In addition, an FFN provider may have to reserve a full-time space for a child who spends part of the day in a prekindergarten class. It is unlikely that the provider can find another child who needs care only during the hours of the prekindergarten class. The provider also may not be able to have children's schedules overlap because of state limits on the number of children she or he can care for at any one time.

Another way states encourage coordination of FFN care and prekindergarten is to share information with FFN providers about prekindergarten programs so that the providers can in turn tell parents about the availability of prekindergarten options and how to apply. Informing providers about prekindergarten also enables providers to help children make the transition to prekindergarten when they start at the beginning of the school year, as well as make the daily adjustment at the end of each prekindergarten day. In Chicago, Illinois Action for Children works to inform FFN providers about prekindergarten programs along with other programs for children and families.

Illinois has taken an innovative step by structuring its prekindergarten program so that a portion of funding is set aside for infant/toddler initiatives.<sup>144</sup> A few communities use some of this funding to assist FFN providers who care for infant and toddlers as well as preschoolers. The vast majority of funding for Illinois' Early Childhood Block Grant—a total of \$318 million in FY 2007—is spent on prekindergarten, but 11 percent of the funding is set aside for grantees serving infants and toddlers. Illinois Action for Children has used funding available through this set-aside to help support its activities involving FFN providers. The agency works with FFN providers caring for infants and toddlers while the preschool-age children cared for by the providers attend prekindergarten.

# Serving Children with Disabilities and Other Special Needs

The Preschool Grants Program, authorized under Section 619 of Part B of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), provides grants to states to serve children ages three though five with disabilities. 145 The Early Intervention Program, authorized under Part C of the IDEA, provides funding to states to support services for infants and toddlers with disabilities birth through age two. 146 These programs aim to identify young children with developmental disabilities or delays, determine what services these children need, and provide these services, either in the child's home or outside the home in a child care or other setting.

States differ in the extent to which they reach out to child care providers, including FFN providers, and involve them in identifying children with special needs and developing and implementing plans to address children's needs. California has provided a total of \$17.6 million since 2002 for an initiative that supports local planning on child care for children with special needs, and local plans may include FFN care. Funds are allocated to counties through local child care planning councils and/or child care resource and referral agencies. Counties develop strategies for expanding the capacity of child care providers to serve children with special needs through outreach, training, technical assistance, and other efforts. Individual counties determine whether their plans will include FFN providers serving children with special needs.

In San Francisco, the Child Care Inclusion Challenge Project assists child care providers, including FFN providers, in working with children who have special needs. The project makes child development specialists available to work with providers in assessing children's needs, identifying ways to adapt the child care environment and curriculum to those needs, and communicating with parents. The project also offers ongoing technical assistance, training opportunities, and referrals to other community resources to help providers and families.

### **Reaching Out with Home Visiting Programs**

Home visiting programs, although primarily focused on educating and providing resources for parents, can offer resources for FFN providers as well. This is a natural extension of the role of home visiting programs. While parents are their children's first teachers, many children spend long hours in the care of FFN providers, and home visiting programs can offer a valuable opportunity to promote children's learning. While a state may not have a dedicated funding stream for home visiting for FFN providers, it may have related programs—such as parent home visiting programs, infant/toddler initiatives, or comprehensive early childhood initiatives—where a portion of the funding could potentially be used to provide resources and support for FFN providers who wish to participate.

Home visiting programs can give FFN providers the opportunity to receive training in areas such as health and safety, child development, and early literacy. Providers can then use their new skills and knowledge to help offer a more enriching experience to the children in their care, and to reinforce the lessons taught during home visits made to parents. As trusted friends or family members, FFN providers can also pass on the information they learn to the children's parents. In addition, home visitors can connect providers to resources to help them meet their own needs and challenges.

One home visiting model is Parents as Teachers (PAT), which provides parents of young children with information about child development and parenting support. While only Missouri funds PAT statewide, Kansas and Oklahoma provide some state funding for PAT, and the model is used in local communities across the country. PAT primarily focuses on parents, but it now has a curriculum for FFN providers as well. The curriculum was developed with the recognition that many FFN providers could benefit from home visits in many of the same ways as parents, yet that it was necessary to have materials designed specifically for providers. There is a curriculum for providers serving mixed

age groups and, in response to feedback from providers, the PAT National Center is developing a curriculum specifically for infants and toddlers.

While most states do not have targeted funding for implementing the PAT curriculum for FFN providers, some states use other resources. For example, Missouri uses its state-funded PAT initiative to support home visits to parents, but some Educare sites—which, as discussed above, sponsor quality improvement activities for subsidized FFN providers—use the PAT curriculum for home visits with FFN providers. In North Carolina, funding available through Smart Start, a community-based, comprehensive early childhood initiative, has supported trainings that use the PAT materials. In Kansas, infant/toddler specialists are trained in the curriculum.

#### Early Head Start Enhanced Home Visiting Pilot Project

Early Head Start's enhanced home visiting project offers an additional model for states that have an interest in extending home visits to FFN providers. Early Head Start, a component of the federal Head Start program, provides high-quality, comprehensive child development and parent education services to lowincome infants and toddlers and their families. The enhanced home visiting pilot project was designed to address the fact that many children enrolled in Early Head Start spend time in FFN care. 153 The project aims to enhance the quality of that care by making resources and supports available to FFN providers. Other goals of the project include increasing continuity and consistency in caregiving between parents and providers, improving the relationship between parents and providers, and responding to providers' needs.

The pilot project includes twenty-three Early Head Start programs in twenty different states with ten to fifty enrollment slots per site. A diverse group of caregivers with varied needs and backgrounds are involved. Over half of the caregivers in the initiative are grandparents, but a few sites also serve fathers, foster parents, or regulated family child care providers. Twelve percent of the caregivers speak a primary language other than English. Many of the caregivers have social service or health care needs. About one-third have not completed high school, while one-third have some training in child development. The majority provide care at least twenty hours a week, with one-third providing full-time care. About one-third receive some payment, and 13 percent receive child care assistance payments for providing care.

The Early Head Start project involves a number of community partners, including child care resource and referral agencies, family support programs, health care providers, Part C (services for infants and toddlers with special needs) providers, child welfare agencies, and Even Start programs. These partners help provide a variety of resources, including group training, health and safety equipment, lending libraries, early intervention services, and health services.

In most cases, home visits are made to providers at least once a month and typically involve an activity with the child and caregiver, discussion of a child development topic, completion of a home visit record, and a home safety check. Some Early Head Start pilot sites use the Parents as Teachers curriculum. The home visitor for a child's provider may, but need not, be the same person who visits the child's parents. The project loans or gives providers health and safety equipment such as car seats, first-aid kits, and outlet covers, as well as other materials and equipment such as children's books, toys, high chairs, cribs, and stipends to purchase additional supplies. The project also offers providers the opportunity to attend group events, including trainings, caregiver support groups, and other Early Head Start and community events. Incentives help encourage attendance at these events. In addition, providers are given referrals to various resources, including food banks, tax preparation assistance, and health services.

An initial assessment of the project found that it helped deliver information and resources to providers, reduced their isolation, increased collaboration between parents and providers, and enhanced caregiving practices. Providers appreciated learning new information on child development and getting ideas for new activities. The project is still working to improve its effectiveness in several areas, including overcoming reluctance of some providers to participate, addressing provider turnover, and encouraging greater attendance at group events.

The PAT curriculum for FFN providers is designed to meet providers' individualized interests and needs. Providers define their own goals and identify what they want to get out of the home visits. This approach recognizes that FFN providers differ greatly in their skills and backgrounds. Many providers who have received home visits following the curriculum report that they are excited to learn about activities they can do with children that they never realized they could do before.

Another home visiting model that can be adapted for FFN providers is the Parent-Child Home Program. This program typically involves two visits each week to parents in a child's second and third years of life. The model is replicated in local communities across the country, but only Pennsylvania and Massachusetts fund the program statewide. In Massachusetts, the program can now be used to reach not only parents but family child care and FFN providers as well, if grantees—school districts and some social service agencies—choose to make the program available to providers. The model used for visits with providers is largely the same as that used for visits with parents. Home visitors bring a book or toy and show the provider how she or he can use the materials with the children in their care to promote their language and literacy development. In Pittsfield, the parent-child home program/family child care project has been piloted in collaboration with the state-funded Community Partnerships for Children program, with six home-based providers participating. While so far the pilot has primarily involved licensed family child care providers, the model could be used with FFN providers as well.

### **Connecting to Family Support Initiatives**

States offer a variety of resources and supports to help parents and their children. These family support initiatives provide another model that states can expand to serve FFN providers. While states have not yet undertaken extensive efforts to reach FFN providers through family support programs, a few states do fund family support efforts that could incorporate strategies to address FFN care.

In California, child care resource and referral agencies have worked with family support programs to recruit, train, and support FFN and family child care providers. The Child Care Resource and Referral Network adapted the model used in its Child Care Initiative Project, which aims to improve the supply of high-quality FFN and family child care, to include family resource centers—community agencies that provide a variety of services for families—as partners. This was a valuable collaboration because family resource centers were able to reach out to and engage FFN and family child care providers and those interested in becoming providers; make training available on site; and offer supportive services and resources to providers. In addition, providers learned about what family resource centers offered, so the providers were able to refer the families they served to various supports and resources the families needed.

## Unionizing

Unionization offers a promising opportunity for FFN providers to increase their influence in the policy process and gain access to additional resources and supports. In the past two years, a number of states, including Illinois, Iowa, Michigan, New Jersey, Oregon, Washington, and Wisconsin have taken steps to allow FFN providers receiving subsidies and regulated family child care providers to organize and negotiate with the state. In a few other states, including California, New York, and Rhode Island, bills allowing family child care and FFN providers to organize passed the legislature

but were vetoed by the governor. 157 Efforts to support unionization are underway in a few additional states as well. Unions can help organize FFN providers who receive child care subsidies and give them a voice in policy decisions that affect their work and livelihoods, which can lead to concrete economic benefits for them.

The issues addressed by unions representing FFN providers can include higher reimbursement rates in the child care assistance program, prompt payment and grievance procedures, health care insurance, support for training and education initiatives, and other benefits. For example, in Illinois, unionization led to an increase in provider reimbursement rates and funding to help providers obtain health care insurance. The union negotiated a contract that includes a 35 percent increase in reimbursement rates for FFN and family child care providers through four rate increases over three years, incentives for receiving training, \$27 million in funding for health insurance beginning in 2008, and a process for resolving problems with the state through a full grievance procedure with arbitration.<sup>158</sup>

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

As described above, state policies can affect parents' access to FFN providers and FFN providers' capacity to offer high-quality care that promotes children's successful development. Strategies for supporting and strengthening FFN care are important because this type of care is and will likely continue to be used by many families. States can take a number of steps within the context of the existing child care system to support FFN care along with other types of child care so that parents are able to choose from a range of good options. Specifically, states should:



Provide parents with information about the full range of child care options, including FFN care, about the state regulatory and/or child care assistance program requirements that different types of child care providers must meet, and about ways to get help paying for care. This should include information about ways to identify high-quality care that ensures children's health and safety and promotes their development. It should also include information on state and federal child care assistance programs and tax credits that can help families pay for care. Information should be available in multiple languages to meet the needs of parents and providers who do not speak English.



 $\stackrel{\textstyle \leftarrow}{\mathbb{R}}$  Ensure that all providers that serve children receiving child care assistance, including FFN providers, comply with certain basic requirements. At a minimum, providers should be expected to: have basic health, safety, and child development training; verify that they are in good health and do not have any communicable diseases such as tuberculosis; obtain proof that children are up to date with their immunizations; ensure firearms are locked and inaccessible; keep poisonous substances out of the reach of children; cover electric sockets; have operable smoke detectors and fire extinguishers; have operable telephones with emergency numbers posted, including parents' telephone numbers; and obtain authorization for medical care in case children have a medical emergency.



Make monitoring visits to all providers that serve children receiving child care assistance, including FFN providers, prior to enrollment of such children and periodically thereafter.



Require criminal and child abuse background checks for all providers that serve children receiving child care assistance, including FFN providers, and other adult members of the household to check for serious crimes and violations, particularly crimes against children. States should take steps to ensure that the process for undergoing background checks is straightforward for providers. States should provide clear information to providers about what the requirements are for background checks and how to comply with these requirements. In addition, states should ensure that the background checks are processed in a timely manner and cover the costs of background checks.



Set reimbursement rates for all providers that serve children receiving child care assistance, including FFN providers, that adequately reflect the costs of providing care and their need to earn a decent income. Bonuses or higher rates should be available to all providers, including FFN providers, as an incentive to offer care that is more costly to provide or in short supply, including care for infants or children with special needs or care during nontraditional hours such as evenings, nights, or weekends. All providers, including FFN providers, should be reimbursed for days when children are absent due to sickness or other circumstances. Finally, all providers, including FFN providers, should receive higher reimbursement rates if they receive sufficient training and education beyond the minimum required.



Use CCDBG quality and infant/toddler set-aside funds to support quality improvements and training opportunities for all providers, including FFN providers. These opportunities should be open to providers who serve children receiving child care assistance as well as those who do not.



Allow FFN providers receiving CCDBG funds to be eligible to participate in the Child and Adult Care Food Program and put in place policies that make it easier for all providers to have continuous access to the program.



Take steps to coordinate state-funded prekindergarten programs with child care providers, including FFN providers. This includes funding transportation between prekindergarten and child care settings and offering full-day reimbursement rates to FFN and other providers caring for children before and after the prekindergarten day. In addition, a portion of state prekindergarten funding should be set aside to support infant/toddler care, including FFN providers caring for infants and toddlers.



Use early intervention programs to identify any child care providers, including FFN providers, caring for children with special needs and extend training opportunities and other supports to these providers.



Provide state funding for home visiting and family support programs and community-based agencies serving families to enable them to work with regulated family child care and FFN providers—including both those that serve children receiving child care assistance and those that do not—and tailor these supports to meet providers' particular needs and goals.



Connect all providers, including FFN providers, to resources and supports in their communities to help them enhance the care they offer and to enable them to meet their own social service, health care, and other needs.



Permit unionization as a strategy for giving all providers, including FFN providers serving children receiving child care assistance, an opportunity to organize, have their voices heard, and bargain for improved compensation, access to health care, professional development, and other supports.

Many of these policies require additional investments in FFN care. To ensure that these investments do not come at the expense of support for other types of child care, it is essential to increase overall child care funding. Initiatives to strengthen FFN care should not compete with other critical priorities, but should be part of a set of strategies to support high-quality child care in all settings as well as other initiatives for low-income children and their families.

### **Endnotes**

- 1 The Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2006 KIDS COUNT Data Book (Baltimore, MD: Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2006), 8.
- 2 Id
- 3 Urban Institute, 2002 National Survey of America's Families, cited in Rachel Schumacher, Center for Law and Social Policy, Key Facts About Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care, Presentation for the Annie E. Casey Foundation Kids Count Annual Conference, Baltimore, MD, Sept. 21, 2006, 4.
- 4 *Id*
- 5 Human Services Policy Center, Patterns of Utilization of Early Care and Education in the U.S. (forthcoming 2007).
- 6 *Id*.
- 7 *Id.*
- 8 Id.
- 9 *Id*.
- 10 Federal Interagency Forum on Child and Family Statistics, America's Children in Brief: Key National Indicators of Well-Being, 2006 (2006), Table POP8.C: Child care and activities: Percentage of children in kindergarten through 8th grade by weekday care and before- and after-school activities by grade level, poverty status, race, and Hispanic origin, 2005, available at http://www.childstats.gov/americaschildren/pop8. asp (last visited Sept. 21, 2006).
- 11 *Id*
- Freya L. Sonenstein, Gary Gates, Stefanie R. Schmidt, and Natalya Bolshun, Primary Child Care Arrangements of Employed Parents: Findings from the 1999 National Survey of America's Families (Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2002), 5.
- 13 Richard Brandon, Human Services Policy Center, University of Washington, Enhancing Family Friend and Neighbor Caregiving Quality: The Research Case for Public Engagement (2005), 9 [hereinafter Brandon (2005)]; Amy Susman-Stillman, Current Directions in Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care: An Interim Report (University of Minnesota, Center for Early Education and Development, 2005), 1 [hereinafter Susman-Stillman].
- 14 Brandon (2005), 10.
- 15 Id. at 15.
- 16 Id. at 10.
- 17 Kathleen Snyder and Sarah Adelman, The Use of Relative Care While Parents Work: Findings from the 1999 National Survey of America's Families (Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2004), 24-25, *available at* http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/311131\_DP04-09.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007) [hereinafter Snyder and Adelman].
- Heather Boushey and Joseph Wright, Working Moms and Child Care (Washington, DC: Center for Economic and Policy Research, 2004), 8 [hereinafter Boushey and Wright].
- 19 Snyder and Adelman, 14-17.
- 20 Id. at 16.
- 21 Id.
- 22 Jeffrey Capizzano, Gina Adams, and Jason Ost, Caring for Children of Color: The Child Care Patterns of White, Black and Hispanic Children (Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2006), ix, available at http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/311285\_OP-72.pdf (last visited Oct. 6, 2006).
- 23 *Id*.
- 24 Id.
- 25 Boushey and Wright, 7-8.
- 26 Brandon (2005), 10.
- 27 Snyder and Adelman, 19-20.
- 28 *Id.* at 20.
- 29 Id.
- 30 Kristin Smith, Rural Families Choose Home-Based Child Care for their Preschool-Aged Children (Durham, NH: Carsey Institute, University of New Hampshire, 2006), Policy Brief No. 3, 1-2, available at http://www.carseyinstitute.unh.edu/documents/ChildCare\_final.pdf (last visited Sept. 28, 2006).
- 31 Sandra L. Hofferth, Kimberlee A. Shauman, Robin R. Henke, and Jerry West, Characteristics of Children's Early Care and Education Programs: Data from the 1995 National Household Education Survey (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 1998), 44, available at http://nces.ed.gov/pubs98/98128.pdf (last visited Jan. 4, 2007).
- 32 Brandon (2005), 12.
- 33 Susman-Stillman, 12; Brandon (2005), 10.
- 34 Brandon (2005), 10-11.
- 35 Susman-Stillman, 12.
- 36 Brandon (2005), 10.
- 37 Center for the Child Care Workforce and Human Services Policy Center, Estimating the Size and Components of the U.S. Child Care Workforce and Caregiving Population (Washington, DC and Seattle, WA: 2002), 17-18, available at http://ccw.cleverspin.com/pubs/

- workforceestimatereport.pdf (last visited Jan. 12, 2007) [hereinafter Center for the Child Care Workforce and Human Services Policy Center]; Brandon (2005), 8.
- Susman-Stillman, 6. 38
- 39 Center for the Child Care Workforce and Human Services Policy Center, 17-18; Brandon (2005), 8.
- Richard N. Brandon, Erin J. Maher, Jutta M. Joesch, and Sharon Doyle, Understanding Family, Friend, and Neighbor Care in Washington State: Developing Appropriate Training and Support (Seattle, WA: Human Services Policy Center, University of Washington, 2002), 25 [hereinafter Brandon et al. (2002)].
- Id. at 90. 41
- Brandon (2005), 17. This finding is based on data from the 2002 Washington state study. 42
- 43 Brandon et al. (2002), 92.
- Id. at 64. 44
- Richard Chase, Joanne Arnold, Laura Schauben, and Ben Shardlow, Family, Friend and Neighbor Caregivers: Results of the 2004 Minnesota 45 Statewide Household Child Care Survey (St. Paul, MN: Wilder Research, 2006), 2 [hereinafter Chase et al.].
- *Id.* at 4. 46
- 47 *Id.* at 2.
- Susman-Stillman, 13. 48
- 49 Brandon et al. (2002), 83.
- 50 Chase et al., 3
- 51 Susman-Stillman, 12.
- 52 Brandon et al. (2002), 83.
- 53 Chase et al., 20.
- Steven G. Anderson, Dawn M. Ramsburg, and Bari Rothbaum, Illinois Study of License-Exempt Child Care: Interim Report (University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 2003), 67-68.
- Susman-Stillman, 12. 55
- Susman-Stillman, 17 and Brandon (2005), 21.
- Jean I. Layzer and Barbara D. Goodson, National Study of Child Care for Low-Income Families—Care in the Home: A Description of Family Child Care and the Experience of Families and Children That Use It, Wave 1 Report (Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates) (forthcoming) [hereinafter Layzer et al.], cited in Susman-Stillman, 17; Eva M. Shivers, Provider-Child Attachment Relationships in Family, Friend and Neighbor Care (unpublished), cited in Susman-Stillman, 17; Kathryn Tout and Martha Zaslow, Observations of Child Care Provided by Family, Friends and Neighbors in Minnesota (Minneapolis, MN: Minnesota Child Care Policy Research Partnership, 2006), 2.
- Rebekah Levine Coley, P. Lindsay Chase-Lansdale, and Christine P. Li-Grining, Child Care in the Era of Welfare Reform: Quality, Choices, and Preferences (Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University, 2001), Policy Brief 01-4, 3, available at http://web.jhu.edu/threecitystudy/images/ publications/19168\_Welfare\_Nov.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007) [hereinafter Coley et al.].
- Susman-Stillman, 13, citing Layzer et al.; Elizabeth Jaeger and Suzanne Funk, The Philadelphia Child Care Quality Study: An Examination of Quality in Selected Early Education and Care Settings (Philadelphia, PA: Saint Joseph's University, 2001); Kelly L. Maxwell, Legal, Nonregulated Care in North Carolina, Paper presented at the Society for Research in Child Development Biennial Meeting, Atlanta, Georgia, 2005.
- Barbara T. Bowman, Suzanne Donovan, and M. Susan Burns (eds.), Eager to Learn: Educating Our Preschoolers (Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2001), 263-264 [hereinafter Bowman et al.]; Margaret R. Burchinal, Debby Cryer, Richard M. Clifford, and Carollee Howes, Caregiver Training and Classroom Quality in Child Care Centers, Applied Developmental Science (2001), 6, 2-11.
- 61 Brandon (2005), 19-20.
- 62 Id. at 20.
- 63 Susman-Stillman, 16-17.
- Bowman et al., 144-145; NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, Child Outcomes When Child Care Center Classes Meet Recommended Standards for Quality, American Journal of Public Health (1999), 89, 1072–1077.
- 65 Brandon (2005), 19.
- 66 Susman-Stillman, 14.
- 67 Coley et al., 4.
- Minn. R. 9502.0315 (2006), available at http://nrc.uchsc.edu/STATES/MN/mn2.htm#pgfld-336932 (last visited Jan. 16, 2007).
- 55 Pa. Code § 3290.4 (2006), available at http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/055/chapter3290/chap3290toc.html (last visited Jan. 18,
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Child Care Information Center, Threshold of Licensed Family Child Care (April 2006), available at http://nccic.acf.hhs.gov/pubs/cclicensingreq/threshold.html. This table is also the source for the other information in this subsection about state exemptions related to the number of children in a provider's care.
- Vermont also exempts providers caring for children from two families, regardless of how many total children from those families are in their
- Wyoming also exempts providers caring for children from a single family, regardless of how many total children from that family are in their

- 73 Illinois also exempts providers caring for children from a single family, regardless of how many total children from that family are in their care.
- 74 Oregon also exempts providers caring for children from a single family, regardless of how many total children from that family are in their care.
- 75 Washington State Child Care Resource and Referral Network, Licensing, *available at* http://www.childcarenet.org/providers/licensing (last visited Nov. 6, 2006).
- National Women's Law Center calculations based on data from U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Child Care Bureau, Child Care and Development Fund Preliminary Estimates, Table 6: Child Care and Development Fund, Percent of Children Served in All Types of Care (FFY 2004), available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ccb/data/ccdf\_data/04acf800/table6.htm (last visited Jan. 16, 2007). Seven and a half percent of the children receiving assistance were cared for in the child's home and 15.7 percent of the children receiving assistance were cared for in the provider's home. The data in the rest of this subsection on the use of FFN care by children receiving CCDBG assistance are also based on these calculations. These data only reflect children served by the CCDBG, and do not include children receiving child care assistance directly through the TANF block grant. There are limited data available about the type of care used by families served through direct TANF funding, but some evidence suggests that many of these TANF families use FFN care.
- 77 45 C.F.R. § 98.41 (2006), available at http://frwebgate2.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/waisgate.cgi?WAISdocID=045421180409+59+0+0& WAISaction=retrieve (last visited Jan. 16, 2007). These regulations are also the source for other information in this section about CCDBG requirements.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Child Care Information Center, Child Care and Development Fund Report of State Plans FY 2004-2005, 223-224 and 227, *available at* http://nccic.org/pubs/stateplan/stateplan.pdf (last visited Jan. 17, 2007) [hereinafter Report of State Plans].
- 79 Id. at 223-224.
- 80 Id.
- 81 Id. at 224.
- 82 Id.
- 83 *Id*.
- 84 Georgia Department of Human Resources, Division of Family and Children Services, Child Care and Development Fund Plan for FFY 2004-2005, 63-64, available at http://www.div.dhr.state.ga.us/dfcs\_caps/State%20Plan.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007) [hereinafter Georgia Child Care and Development Fund Plan].
- 85 Id.
- 86 Id.
- 87 Toni Porter and Shannon M. Kearns, Supporting Family, Friend and Neighbor Caregivers: Findings from a Survey of State Policies (New York, NY: Bank Street College of Education, 2005), 7, available at http://www.bankstreet.edu/gems/ICCC/surveypaperfinal.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007).
- 88 Id. at 7-8.
- Toni Porter and Sally Mabon, Policy Issues in License-Exempt Child Care: Lead Paint, Wages, and Criminal Record Checks (New York, NY: Bank Street College of Education, 2004), 11.
- 90 Email from Evelyn Keating, Provider Services Director, Family and Workplace Connection, to Helen Blank, National Women's Law Center, Nov. 9, 2006.
- 91 Emails from Sheila Hansen, Policy Director, Every Child Counts, to Helen Blank, National Women's Law Center, Nov. 3 and Nov. 6, 2006.
- 92 Email from Carol Saginaw, Executive Director, New York State Child Care Coordinating Council, to Helen Blank, National Women's Law Center, Nov. 15, 2006.
- 93 Email from Elizabeth Bonbright Thompson, Executive Director, Washington State Child Care Resource and Referral Network, to Helen Blank, National Women's Law Center, Nov. 6, 2006.
- Oalifornia Child Care Resource and Referral Network, 2005 Trustline Data as of May 4, 2006 (based on data provided to the California CCR&R Network by the California Department of Social Services).
- 95 New York Office of the State Comptroller, Office of Children and Family Services Life Safety and Fiscal Issues Related to Legally Exempt Child Care (Albany, NY: Office of the State Comptroller, 2004), 21, available at http://nysosc3.osc.state.ny.us/audits/allaudits/093004/02s38. pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007). A report is considered "indicated" if the district investigates and finds some credible evidence of abuse or maltreatment.
- New York Office of Children and Family Services, Child Care and Development Fund Plan for FFY 2005-2007, 80, available at http://www.ocfs.state.ny.us/main/becs/stateplan/CCDF\_Complete.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007); 18 NYCRR § 415.4(f)(8)(iv) (2006), available at http://www.ocfs.state.ny.us/main/becs/LEsubsidyregs11-06.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007).
- 97 Id.
- 98 Report of State Plans, 223-224.
- 99 Email from Evelyn Keating, Provider Services Director, Family and Workplace Connection, to Helen Blank, National Women's Law Center, Mar. 13, 2006.
- 100 Delaware Health and Social Services, Division of Social Services, Delaware Child Care and Development Fund Plan for FFY 2006-2007, 62, available at http://www.dhss.delaware.gov/dhss/dss/files/ccdfplan0607.pdf (last visited Oct. 12, 2006). Providers who were already caring for children in the subsidy program when the requirement went into effect in June 2005 were given six months to complete the training.

- 101 Georgia Child Care and Development Fund Plan, 64.
- 102 Id.
- 103 National Women's Law Center unpublished data on state reimbursement rates (2006) (collected through a survey of state child care administrators).
- 104 Brandon (2005), 17.
- 105 Chase, et al., 3.
- 106 Karen Schulman and Helen Blank, Child Care Assistance Policies 2006: Gaps Remain, with New Challenges Ahead (Washington, DC: National Women's Law Center, 2006), 6 [hereinafter Schulman and Blank (2006)].
- 107 Karen Schulman and Helen Blank, In Their Own Voices: Parents and Providers Struggling with Child Care Cuts (Washington, DC: National Women's Law Center, 2005), 7-8.
- 108 Karen Schulman and Helen Blank, Child Care Assistance Policies 2005: States Fail to Make Up Lost Ground, Families Continue to Lack Critical Supports (Washington, DC: National Women's Law Center, 2005), 5.
- 109 Illinois Department of Human Services, Child Care Payment Rates, available at http://www.dhs.state.il.us/ts/pdf/rates2000cc.pdf (last visited Nov. 14, 2006).
- 110 Report of State Plans, 97.
- 111 The National Child Care Information Center summary of state plans reported which states offered higher rates for nontraditional hours, but did not specify which states made FFN providers eligible for these rates.
- 112 Missouri Department of Social Services, Child Care and Development Fund Plan for FFY 2006-2007, 25, available at http://www.dss.mo.gov/ cd/childcare/pdf/ccdplan06\_07.pdf (last visited Nov. 14, 2006) [hereinafter Missouri Child Care and Development Fund Plan].
- 113 Kentucky Cabinet for Health and Family Services, Department for Community Based Services, Division of Child Care, Child Care and Development Fund Plan for FFY 2006-2007, 23, available at http://chfs.ky.gov/dcbs/dcc/ (last visited Nov. 14, 2006) [hereinafter Kentucky Child Care and Development Fund Plan].
- 114 Report of State Plans, 97.
- 115 The National Child Care Information Center summary of state plans reported which states offered higher rates for special needs care, but did not specify which states made FFN providers eligible for these rates.
- 116 Kentucky Child Care and Development Fund Plan, 23.
- 117 Missouri Child Care and Development Fund Plan, 25.
- 118 Iowa Department of Human Services, Child Care and Development Fund Plan for FFY 2006-2007, 33-34, available at http://www.dhs.state. ia.us/dhs2005/dhs\_homepage/docs/0507-CCDFPlanDRAFT.doc, last visited Nov. 14, 2006).
- 119 Michigan Department of Human Services, Child Care and Development Plan for Michigan FFY 2006-2007, 25-26, available at http://www. michigan.gov/documents/DHS-CDC-StatePlan2006-07\_124596\_7.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007).
- Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development, Wisconsin's Child Care Subsidy Program, Mar. 2004, 5, available at http://www.dwd. state.wi.us/dws/programs/childcare/wishares/pdf/wishares\_summary.pdf (last visited Jan. 17, 2007). FFN providers that do not receive the additional training are referred to as "provisionally certified" providers.
- 121 Report of State Plans, 224.
- 122 Schulman and Blank (2006), 5.
- 123 Report of State Plans, 137-141. This report is also the source for the other information in this subsection on state practices.
- 124 42 U.S.C. § 9858e (2003), available at http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname=browse\_usc&docid=Cite:+42USC9858e (last visited Jan. 22, 2007).
- 125 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Child Care Bureau, FY 2006 CCDF Allocations (Based on Appropriations), available at http:// www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ccb/law/allocations/current/state2006/estimated\_final\_allocations2006.htm (last visited Jan. 16, 2007).
- 126 Melanie Pittard, Martha Zaslow, Bridget Lavelle, and Toni Porter, Investing in Quality: A Survey of State Child Care Development Fund Initiatives (Washington, DC: American Public Human Services Association and Child Trends, 2006), 25.
- 127 California Child Care Resource and Referral Network's Task Force on License-Exempt Child Care, Supporting and Training License-Exempt Child Care Providers: Recommendations and Strategies for Child Care Resource and Referral Programs (San Francisco, CA: California Child Care Resource and Referral Network, 2004), 7. This report is also the source for the other California information in this paragraph.
- 128 Telephone conversation with Doris Hallford, Missouri Department of Social Services, May 17, 2006. This conversation is also the source for the other Missouri information in this paragraph.
- 129 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Child Care Information Center, The Child Care Partnership Project: Michigan Child Care Futures Project, available at http://nccic.org/ccpartnerships/profiles/michigan.htm (last visited Jan. 17, 2007). This fact sheet is also the source for the other Michigan information in this paragraph.
- 130 Report of State Plans, 185.
- 131 Id. at 179.
- 132 Id. at 206.
- 134 Email from Ann Nutt, Director, Early Care and Education Quality Initiatives, West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, to Karen Schulman, National Women's Law Center, Apr. 26, 2006.

- 135 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Child Care Bureau fact sheet, Keys to High Quality Care for Babies and Toddlers: Infant/Toddler Specialists (2006), 3.
- 136 42 U.S.C. § 1766 (2003), available at http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname=browse\_usc&docid=Cite:+42USC1766 (last visited Jan. 22, 2007). This statute is also the source for the other information in this section on the federal CACFP.
- 137 Conversation with Geri Henchy, Director of Early Childhood Nutrition, Food Research and Action Center, Mar. 27, 2006. This conversation is also the source for the other information in this paragraph about state CACFP policies.
- 138 W. Steven Barnett, Jason T. Hustedt, Kenneth B. Robin, and Karen L. Schulman, The State of Preschool: 2005 State Preschool Yearbook (Rutgers, NJ: National Institute for Early Education Research, 2006), 5 [hereinafter Barnett et al.].
- 139 Id. at 4-6.
- 140 Id. at 170.
- 141 Conversation with Maria Wheelan, President/CEO, Illinois Action for Children, Nov. 10, 2006. This is also the source for the other information in this section about Illinois Action for Children's activities.
- 142 Barnett et al., 183.
- 143 Several states require transportation if it is part of the individualized education plan for a child with special needs, but very few states require it for all prekindergarten students. *Id.* at 182.
- 144 Illinois State Board of Education, Early Childhood Block Grant, available at http://www.isbe.state.il.us/earlychi/default.htm (last visited Jan. 16, 2007); Illinois State Board of Education, FY 2007 Early Childhood Block Grant Request for Proposals for New Funds Birth to Three, available at http://www.isbe.state.il.us/earlychi/pdf/ecgb\_rfp\_0-3.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007). These websites are also the sources for the other information in this paragraph about Illinois' Early Childhood Block Grant.
- 145 20 U.S.C. § 1419 (2004).
- 146 20 U.S.C. §§ 1431-1444 (2004).
- 147 California Map to Inclusive Child Care, SB 1703, available at http://www.sonoma.edu/cihs/CAmap/sb1703.html (last visited Oct. 18, 2006); email from Patty Siegel, Executive Director, California Child Care Resource and Referral Network, to Helen Blank, National Women's Law Center, Oct. 17, 2006. These are also the sources for the other California information in this paragraph.
- 148 Child Care Inclusion Challenge Project, Services for Providers, *available at* http://www.supportforfamilies.org/inclusionproject/providers.html (last visited Nov. 14, 2006). This is also the source for the other information in this paragraph on the Child Care Inclusion Challenge Project.
- 149 Parents as Teachers, About Us, available at http://www.parentsasteachers.org/site/pp.asp?c=ekIRLcMZJxE&b=272092 (last visited Jan. 18, 2007).
- 150 Telephone conversation with Kerry Caverly and Jill Bailey, Center for Professional Development and Enrichment, Parents as Teachers National Center, May 4, 2006. This conversation is also the source for the information in this and the following two paragraphs on PAT and its use by states.
- 151 Telephone conversation with Sarah Walzer, Executive Director, Parent-Child Home Program, Feb. 10, 2006; Parent-Child Home Program, Who We Are, available at http://www.parent-child.org/aboutus/index.html (last visited Jan, 16, 2007); Parent-Child Home Program, Our History, available at http://www.parent-child.org/aboutus/ourhistory.html (last visited Jan. 16, 2007). These are also the sources for the other information in this paragraph on the Parent-Child Home Program and its use by states.
- 152 42 U.S.C. § 9840A (2003), available at http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname=browse\_usc&docid=Cite:+42USC9840a (last visited Jan. 22, 2007).
- 153 Diane Paulsell, Debra Mekos, Patricia Del Grosso, Patti Banghart, and Renée Nogales, The Enhanced Home Visiting Pilot Project: How Early Head Start Programs Are Reaching Out to Kith and Kin Caregivers: Final Interim Report (Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc., 2006), available at http://www.mathematica-mpr.com/publications/PDFs/homevisitrpt.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2007). This report is also the source for the other information in this text box on Early Head Start's enhanced home visiting project.
- 154 California Child Care Resource and Referral Network, Linking Child Care and Family Support: Three Successful Collaborations (San Francisco, CA: California Child Care Resource and Referral Network, 2005). This report is also the source for the other information in this paragraph on California's family support initiative.
- 155 Deborah Chalfie, Helen Blank, and Joan Entmacher, Getting Organized: Unionizing Home-Based Child Care Providers (Washington, DC: National Women's Law Center, 2007) (forthcoming). This report is also the source for the other information in this section on unionizing child care providers.
- 156 In Iowa, only regulated family child care providers currently have a union to represent them; FFN providers are not yet represented by a union.
- 157 In Massachusetts, a bill that would have allowed regulated family child care providers—but not FFN providers—to organize was also vetoed by the governor. In addition, a union-sponsored ballot initiative that would have recognized both FFN providers and family child care providers who receive subsidies was on the November 2006 ballot in Massachusetts, but it was defeated.
- 158 SEIU fact sheet, In First Contract Ever Nationwide, 49,000 Illinois Family Child Care Providers Show That Uniting with SEIU Gets Results (undated).



National Women's Law Center 11 Dupont Circle NW Suite 800 Washington, DC 20036 202.588.5180 202.588.5185 (fax) www.nwlc.org